COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT III

City of New Richmond,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

Appellant's Brief

Warren Wayne Slocum

Defendant-Appellant

Appeal No. 2016 AP 1887

Circuit Court Case No. 2015 CV 467

From a decision(s) in St. Croix County Court, by Judge Vlack

RECEIVED

FEB 2 3 2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Warren Slocum

2220 122nd St.

New Richmond, Wisconsin 54017

715-248-3150

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT III

City of New Richmond,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

Appellant's Brief

Warren Slocum,

Defendant-Appellant

Appeal No. 2016 AP 1887

Circuit Court Case No. 2015 CV 467

Statement of the Issues:

The issues of this case are the local judge's disregard of judicial precedents and procedures, producing a miscarriage of justice.

The procedures disregarded by the local judge include his refusal to make use of a trial jury, even though that was clearly requested and approved (R-1, R-2, R-4).

This detail is important because a trial to the court allows a local judge to determine the outcome of the legal action, rather than having that decision-making authority delegated to a jury, as requested (R-2)

The local judge's disregard of proper judicial procedures also includes an inequitable constriction of evidence and testimony (R-44, 48). While the Plaintiff received the local judge's approval to constrain evidence and testimony in the case (R-44, 48), the Plaintiff violated its own constraints, by providing evidence outside of its own limitations and constraints, in the form of exhibits involving actions that took place well after the time limits imposed by the local judge.

The judicial precedents disregarded by the local judge involve the state's Superior Courts' precedential decisions that disorderly conduct is not defined by a victim's hypersensitive response to appropriate, socially-appropriate behavior---especially when statutory adherence to civil procedures is being faithfully adhered to.

Statement regarding oral argument and publishing of decision: Oral argument is requested. It is also requested that the court's decisions be published.

Statement of the Case:

This is a case involving civil process service that had been evaded by the recipient of the service for an extended period of time.

The recipient of the process service of legal documents is a clerk-treasurer in a rural township (Star Prairie), and he made many efforts at evading service of the legal documents. In order to avoid civil process service, for example, he even closed his

office for several days, so the service was attempted at his home, in a different municipality (City of New Richmond) than the one in which he serves as clerk-treasurer.

This procedure is allowed under s.801.14.

Rather than accept the process service of the legal documents at his home, the intended recipient instead concocted an elaborate ruse about improper behavior of myself, as civil process server, claiming that disorderly conduct was involved, rather than simple, orderly, appropriate, and legal service of the documents.

There is no evidence to support such charges, however, so some was fabricated retroactively, to present an appearance of impropriety in the process service.

This is a transparent effort and attempt at criminalizing behavior that is unwanted by a powerful, well-connected local official--- by deeming actions that are unwanted by the local official as beyond objectionable--- to the point of socially unacceptable.

Since the recipient of the legal documents is well-known, and well-liked by the local city police department, those local authorities, including the Chief of Police of New Richmond, were complicit in promoting the recipient's narrative of wrong-doing.

After initially offering to provide civil process service of the legal documents, for example, the police later threatened me with actual arrest, if additional attempts were made to perform the civil process service.

Even though the police were at the clerk's home at several times during and following the incident, they repeatedly and consistently refused to perform the civil process service I'd subsequently paid them to perform.

The local judge's complicity in this miscarriage of justice is apparent from his handling of the case.

For example, he ignored and disregarded the testimony of the police officer responding to the recipient's complaint (who testified that the clerk's wife was nervous and behaving oddly when he interviewed her---R-45).

The local judge preferentially allowed presentation of evidence from the City that did not qualify under the judge's own restrictions on timeliness, and the local judge also denied consideration of the relevance of the context of the circumstances in which the incident occurred.

Additionally, when the case was re-assigned to him, the local judge ignored the previous judge's approval of the case as a jury trial (R-1), claiming that a separate jury fee needed to be paid by money, instead of acknowledging that the previous judge had

already waived that fee, when the case was accepted as one involving a jury, not a trial to the court judge alone.

By adopting a double-standard of admissible evidence, the local judge:

- 1) approved evidence from the Plaintiff that was outside of the Plaintiff's own requests for time constraints, but
- 2) disallowed that from myself as Defendant, which would have identified and explained the actual context and circumstances of the case.

The context and circumstances of the case deserved to be comprehensively exposed and identified, in order for the litigation to proceed properly, according to established Superior Court precedents in the State of Wisconsin (cited later in this brief). For example, both the City's Police Chief, and the intended recipient of the legal documents have established histories of misconduct and corruption in office that was disallowed as evidence by the local judge.

Statement of the Facts:

The local judge chose to convert the jury trial to a trial before the court, against my opposition (R-25).

The local judge also used an improper criteria for determining disorderly conduct, disregarding the legal precedents of Superior Courts in the state that have determined that it is not the discomfort of a party that determines disorderly conduct, but rather the context and circumstances in which behavior occurs.

This shifts the determination of disorderly conduct away from a single person's potential hypersensitivity, and instead compares behavior to the standards of the community in which it occurs.

New Richmond is a community in which the state's statutory procedures for civil process service are accepted and approved of. Adherence to those statutory procedures for civil process service cannot be deemed disorderly conduct, unless it additionally involves truly disreputable behavior which was not present in this case at all.

There is no evidence of disorderly conduct involving the attempted service of legal documents to my local township's clerk-treasurer.

There is instead significant inconsistency in the various stories by the clerk's wife, regarding the events of the attempt at civil process service.

For example, the clerk's wife testified (R-45) that her husband never woke up during the incident in which she claimed that she feared for her safety, from what she later claimed was an attempted forcible entry, but which the 911 recording confirmed was simply a ringing of the doorbell.

The evidence purportedly indicating forcible entry was fabricated well after the incident itself, and it was not part of the investigating officer's interview with the clerk's wife (R-45).

We're living in a time where "alternative facts" are being routinely presented by powerful officials at all levels of government, including the new President.

These attempts at revising and re-writing history and reality are seen by impartial observers as transparent ruses furthering oppression of anyone who objects to the control of authorities—even when official misconduct and corruption is occurring at the highest levels of office, or with lesser ranked individuals, authorities.

Argument Section:

There is no designated authority bestowed on a local circuit court judge to convert a requested jury trial to a trial before only that single court judge.

The right to a trial by one's peers is a foundation of our democracy, and our judicial system. The local judge erred in making a conversion of the trial from a jury trial --- where the judge would have no authority to determine the verdict---to a trial where he alone would make a final determination on the case.

The legal precedents determining and defining disorderly conduct are clear in elucidating and elaborating that it is not merely someone's taking offense at another's behavior that automatically criminalizes that behavior.

By excluding evidence regarding the circumstances and context of the case, the local judge erred.

It is precisely the circumstances in this case that are relevant to the litigation, since some specific behaviors would qualify as disorderly conduct in certain situations, while they would not qualify as disorderly conduct in others: *State v. Werstein*, 60 Wis.2d 668 211 NW 2d 437 Wis: Supreme Court (1973)

New Richmond's disorderly conduct ordinance is based on the state statute s. 947.01. From Werstein we see that:

"It is the combination of conduct and circumstances that is crucial in applying the statute to a particular situation." *State v. Maker* (1970), 48 Wis. 2d 612, 616, 180 N. W. 2d 707

Another excerpt from *Werstein* shows that "... the relatedness of conduct and circumstances is of ultimate importance":

Wisconsin's disorderly conduct statute proscribes conduct in terms of results which can reasonably be expected therefrom, rather than attempting to enumerate the limitless number of antisocial acts which a person could engage in that would menace, disrupt or destroy public order. *State v. Zwicker*, 41 Wis. 2d 497, 508, 164 N. W. 2d 512, Such is especially true in regards to the "otherwise disorderly" proscription wherein the relatedness of conduct and circumstances is of ultimate importance. "This court's emphasis upon the relatedness of conduct and circumstances in the statute is no more than a recognition of the fact that what would constitute disorderly conduct in one set of circumstances, might not under some other. When a famed jurist observed, "The most stringent protection of free speech would not protect a man in falsely shouting fire in a theatre and causing a panic," the comment related to the crowdedness of the theater as well as to the loudness of the shout.

Additionally, the local judge is ignoring the fact that there is a "hypercritical individual" involved in this case, who believed that ringing a doorbell equates with an attempt to forcefully break into her home, when simple, orderly, civil process service was instead being properly and responsibly engaged in. Again, from *Werstein*, where mention is made that "The statute does not punish a person for conduct which might possibly offend some hypercritical individual".

It is the combination of conduct and circumstances that is crucial in applying the statute to a particular situation." *State v. Maker* (1970), 48 Wis. 2d 612, 616, 180 N. W. 2d 707.

"The statute does not punish a person for conduct which might possibly offend some hypercritical individual. The design of the disorderly conduct statute is to proscribe substantial intrusions which offend the normal sensibilities of average persons or which constitute significantly abusive or disturbing demeanor in the eyes of reasonable persons." *State v. Zwicker*, at page 508.

Though offense was taken that civil process service was being properly attempted at the clerk's home, the statutes allow for just such process service at a personal residence, when an office is closed.

801.14

2) ... Service upon the attorney or upon a party shall be made by delivering a copy or by mailing it to the last-known address, or, if no address is known, by leaving it with the clerk of the court. Delivery of a copy within this section means: handing it to the attorney or to the party; transmitting a copy of the paper by facsimile machine to his or her office; or leaving it at his or her office with a clerk or other person in charge thereof; or, if there is no one in charge, leaving it in a conspicuous place therein; or, if the office is closed or the person to be served has no office, leaving it at his or her dwelling house or usual place of

abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein. Service by mail is complete upon mailing. Service by facsimile is complete upon transmission.

The fearful hypersensitivity of the clerk's wife to having process service at her residence is unreasonable, since both she and her husband are public officials. Her unreasonable fear that process service was a break-in attempt at her home is incompatible and inconsistent with her official duties as a Notary Public, where her address is clearly listed as her residence, not her place of employment at the bank in New Richmond.

If the clerk's wife did not want to serve the public as a Notary Public from her residence, she could have simply listed her address at the bank, instead of at her home, as other Notaries Public have done.

Conclusion:

The local judge erred in converting the jury trial case to one before himself alone.

He also erred in allowing a double-standard of the admissibility of evidence--excluding contextual and circumstantial evidence/testimony from myself as Defendant,
while allowing evidence from the Plaintiff that did not meet the Plaintiff's own restrictions
and constraints on admissible evidence.

The relief sought in this action is to have the local judge's decisions reversed. If another trial is ordered, it is requested that such a trial be conducted before a jury, as the first trial was also to be conducted.

Certification of Brief: I certify that this brief conforms to the rules contained in s. 809.19(8)(b) and (c) for a brief produced using the Proportional serif font. The length of this brief is 2,345 words.