RECEIVED

03-29-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2016 AP 1887 Circuit Court Case No. 2015 CV 467

City of New Richmond,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Warren Wayne Slocum,

Defendant-Appellant,

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Appeal from Judgment Entered August 8, 2016, in the Circuit Court for St. Croix County, The Honorable Edward F. Vlack Presiding

Lida M. Bannink State Bar No. 1088518 Eckberg Lammers, P.C. Attorneys for Plaintiff- Respondent

430 Second Street Hudson, WI 54016 Phone: (715) 386-3733 Fax: (715) 386-6456

i

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

_

⁴ While some of the following excerpts are taken from unpublished opinions seemingly in violation of Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3), the City notes that the cases are not cited as precedent or authority but merely provided for informational purposes, which is allowed under the rule. *See Brandt v. Labor & Indus. Review Comm'n*, 160 Wis. 2d 353, 364, 466 N.W.2d 673 (Ct. App. 1991), *aff'd*. 166 Wis. 2d 623, 480 N.W.2d 494 (1992) ("[W]e note that Rule 809.23(3), Stats., is not a total gag rule... [t]he Rule does not purport to bar the citation of unpublished court of appeals decisions for other informational purposes.")

Slocum v. Star Prairie Twp., 2016 WI App 34, ¶ 13, 369 Wis. 2d 74, 879 N.W.2d 809 (unpublished, per curiam)(emphasis added).

Furthermore, *Slocum is now an experienced litigator* and failure to conform to the requirements of Wis. Stat. Rule 809.19 regarding briefing on appeal may also result in sanctions including dismissal of the appeal, summary reversal, striking of a paper, imposition of a penalty or costs, or other action as the court considers appropriate. *See* Wis. Stat. Rule 809.83(2).

Id. at \P 15 (emphasis added).

Slocum often provides no pin-point citation whatsoever for citations to legal authority, and insufficient record citations. These shortcomings have unnecessarily complicated our review in this and other appeals Slocum filed.

Id. at n. 3.

We conclude further sanctions are also warranted, as repeated cautions and admonitions have proven ineffective to cease Slocum's vexatious and abusive conduct. *See Minniecheske v. Griesbach*, 161 Wis. 2d 743, 748, 468 N.W.2d 760 (Wis. Ct. App. 1991).

Accordingly, the clerk of this court is instructed to return unfiled any document Slocum submits relating to any matter arising from, relating to, or involving Star Prairie Township's property tax assessments of Slocum's real property, until such time as Slocum provides the clerk of this court proof that all sanctions issued by this court against Slocum awarding costs, fees and reasonable attorney fees have been paid in full. Costs in the present case are awarded on appeal to Respondents.

Warren Slocum v. Star Prairie Twp. Bd., No. 2014AP1093, 2017 WL 831168, at *2 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb. 28, 2017)

Slocum fails to provide relevant record citations pursuant to Appellate Procedure and, in fact, most of the facts

he cites in his brief cannot be found on the record. As such, this appeal should be dismissed in its entirety and costs should be awarded given Slocum's long record of appellate filings and frequent admonitions regarding appropriate procedure. At a minimum, all facts that are not supported by the record must be stricken.

2. The Trial Court's Decision to Proceed With a Bench Trial was Appropriate.

Article I, Section 5 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides that "the right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate." However, that same section makes clear that "a jury may be waived by the parties in all cases in the manner prescribed by law." Wis. Const. Art. I, § 5. Wis. Stats. §§ 800.14(4) and 814.61(4), combined, is one example of how waiver may be effectuated. Wis. Stat. § 800.14(4) states:

An appeal from a judgment where trial has been held shall be on the record unless, within 20 days after notice of appeal has been filed with the municipal court under sub. (1), either party requests that a new trial be held to the circuit court. The new trial shall be conducted by the court without a jury unless either party requests a 6-person jury trial and posts the jury fee under 814.61 (4) within 10 days after the order for a new trial.

(emphasis added.) Wis. Stat. § 814.61(4) states:

JURY FEE. For a jury in all civil actions ... a nonrefundable fee of \$6 per juror demanded to hear the case to be paid by the party demanding a jury within the time permitted to demand a jury trial. *If the jury fee is*

not paid, no jury may be called in the action, and the action may be tried to the court without a jury.

(emphasis added.) The statutes clearly provide that the failure to pay a jury fee is a basis for finding waiver of the right to trial by jury. Because the venue of this case is St. Croix County, the time permitted to pay the jury fee is further dictated by St. Croix County Local Rules. The local rule states, "if the jury fee is not paid in a timely manner, the matter shall be a bench trial unless otherwise ordered by the assigned judge." St. Croix County Local Rule 213.01 (for civil actions) and 213.03 (ordinance actions).

A reasonable jury fee does not violate the right of trial by jury as guaranteed by the Wisconsin Constitution. *Phelps v. Physicians Ins. Co. of Wisconsin*, 2005 WI 85, ¶ 31, 282 Wis. 2d 69, 698 N.W.2d 643. The Court noted that, "[j]ury fees have been rather uniformly found to be compatible with a right to a jury trial." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). Furthermore, the Court quoted the following language as providing a rationale for such fees:

The Constitution does not guarantee to the citizen the right to litigate without expense, but simply protects him from imposition of such terms as unreasonably and injuriously interfere with his right to a remedy in the law, or impede the due administration of justice.

Id. (internal citations omitted). Furthermore, "while a defendant has a right to trial by jury in a civil case, he has no vested right under art. I, sec. 5, to the manner or time in which that right may be exercised or waived, since these are merely procedural matters to be determined by law." State ex rel. Prentice v. County Court, 70 Wis.2d 230, 240, 234 N.W.2d 283 (1975).

Slocum filed a form Petition for Waiver of Fees and Costs – Affidavit of Indigency and Order – via facsimile with the Circuit Court on September 4, 2015, stating under oath that "because of poverty, I am unable to pay filing and service fees." (R. at 1, Petition for Waiver Sept. 4, 2015.) This Petition did *not* request or make any reference to a waiver of jury fees. (*Id.*) The Honorable R. Michael Waterman signed the Order on September 30, 2015, finding that "The action may be commenced without payment of filing fees... The sheriff shall serve all necessary documents without payment of service fees..." (*Id.*)

Subsequent to Judge Waterman signing the Order regarding filing fees, the case was transferred to the Honorable Edward F. Vlack. (R. at 7, 8.) On October 6, 2015, Nancy Bierbrauer, Judicial Assistant to Judge Vlack, penned

a letter to Slocum stating the "...Order that you filed is only for filing fees. In regard to your request to have jury fees waived, Judge Vlack will only consider an <u>original</u> Petition for Waiver of Fees and Costs (not a fax or photocopy)." (R. at 9 (emphasis and parenthesis in original).)

At the final pretrial conference on April 18, 2016 where the issue was discussed as to whether the trial would be to the bench or to a jury, Judge Vlack referenced the October 6, 2015 letter, again reiterating

...what you filed was only requested regarding filing fees. If you wanted to have a waiver of the jury fee, you had to submit an original request.... If you think it [waiver of jury fee] was satisfied before, you need to show me that – I need to see that. So, right now we're at a trial to the Court.

(R. at 45, Mot. Tr. 29:23-30:20, April 18, 2016.) Slocum has never produced evidence that, prior to April 18, 2016, he filed an original Petition for waiver of jury fees, or that he had ever requested a waiver of jury fees in any manner.

On April 22, 2016, four days before trial was scheduled, Slocum filed another form Petition and Order for Waiver of Fees and Costs – Affidavit of Indigency and Order *via facsimile* with the Circuit Court, stating under oath that "I am unable to pay filing and service fees and all fees

associated w/ jury trial." (R. at 23, Petition for Waiver, April 22, 2016.) This order was never signed. (*Id.*)

Prior to proceeding with trial on April 26, 2016, the Court once again addressed the issue of whether the matter was to be a court or jury trial. On the morning of trial Judge Vlack opened with the following statement: "...One of the questions regarding this is if this was trial to the Court or a Jury and it was my determination yesterday that there had never been a jury fee paid or a cost petition." (R. at 46, Trial Tr. 1:9-12.) The record further goes on to provide:

THE COURT: The file reflects that on October 6th there was a letter sent to you by Nancy Bierbrauer, the Judicial Assistant, copy to Ms. Bannink, stating that the Petition of Waiver for Fees that you filed was only filing fees. Second paragraph said quote, in regard to request to have jury fees waived, Judge Vlack will only consider an original Petition for Waiver of Fees and Costs, not a fax or photocopy. You may file that with the Clerk of Court's office, end of quote.

MR. SLOCUM: Well, I just filed an original.

THE COURT: And that's untimely...

. . .

THE COURT: Under 800.14(4) it indicates that an Appeal from the Municipal Court is conducted by the Court unless there's a request for jury fee - jury trial fee paid under 814.61(4) within 10 days after the Order for a new trial...

. . .

THE COURT: Under 814.61(4) that must be paid within the 10 days and that's paid to the St. Croix County Clerk of Court. And again, Mr. Slocum, the letter to you October 6th indicated that that had to be submitted to the Clerk of Court with a separate, original

Petition for Waiver. Considering the one you filed Friday and today is untimely.

. . .

THE COURT: Had it been submitted within 10 days of the letter, I would have accepted it.

(*Id.* at 4:3-12, 5:17-20, 6:1-11.)

There is no question that Slocum did not pay the jury fee; the issue relates to whether or not he appropriately filed for a waiver of such fees. The first time that Slocum filed a Petition for waiver of jury fees was on April 22, 2016, four days before trial. (See R at 1, 23.) This was filed via facsimile, without an original signature. (R. at 23.) This is despite being sent a letter on October 6, 2015 indicating that a Petition with an original signature is necessary. (R. at 9.) Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 804.14(4) the jury fee must be paid within 10 days after the order for a new trial. Furthermore, pursuant to St. Croix County Local Rules 213.01 and 213.03, if a jury fee is not paid in a timely manner, the matter shall be a bench trial. The judge correctly and reasonably determined that a petition for waiver of jury fees, filed a mere four days before trial, and in blatant disregard of the Court's letter dated October 6, 2016, was not timely. As such, the ruling that the trial was to be a bench trial should be upheld.

3. The Court Did Not "Inequitably Construct Evidence

and Testimony."

a) The Trial Court's Rulings on the City's Motions in Limine were not Erroneous.

"The purpose of [a] motion in limine is to obtain an advance ruling on admissibility of certain evidence." *State v. Wright*, 2003 WI App 252, ¶ 37, 268 Wis.2d 694, 673 N.W.2d 386. "[Appellate court's] review a circuit court's decision to admit or exclude evidence under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard." *Martindale v. Ripp*, 2001 WI 113, ¶ 28, 246 Wis.2d 67, 629 N.W.2d 698. Applying this standard, appellate courts must uphold the circuit court's decision if it examined the relevant facts, applied a proper legal standard, and, using a demonstrated rational process, reached a reasonable conclusion. *Id*.

Wis. Stat. § 904.01 defines relevant evidence as, "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Generally, relevant evidence is admissible and irrelevant evidence is not admissible. Wis. Stat. § 904.02. However, even though evidence may have some probative value, if that probative value is outweighed by the likelihood

of confusion of the issues, delay, or waste of time, the evidence can and should be excluded. Wis. Stat. § 904.03.

Here, Slocum was charged with violating the City of New Richmond's municipal ordinance 50-88(a)(1) for Disorderly Conduct. The applicable elements are as follows:

- (a) Disorderly conduct prohibited: No person within the City shall:
 - In any public or private place engage in violent, noisy, riotous, abusive, indecent, profane, boisterous, unreasonably loud, or otherwise disorderly conduct which tends to cause or provoke an immediate disturbance of public order or tends to annoy or disturb any other person.

The City filed a Motion in Limine dated March 29, 2016 that included thirteen items. (R. at 19.) All thirteen items were sought to be excluded on the grounds that each was irrelevant, would confuse the issues, be a waste of time, and result in delay. (*Id.*)

This matter was heard at the final pretrial conference on April 18, 2016. (R. at 45.) When Slocum was given the opportunity to be fully heard on the each of the Motions in Limine, he failed to provide to the Court why the information sought to be excluded was relevant. The judge allowed Slocum to be heard on each of the thirteen Motions in Limine and appropriately applied Wis. Stats. §§ 904.01, 904.02, and

904.03 when coming to his rulings to exclude certain evidence.

For instance, with regards to Motion in Limine No. 1 the Judge stated: "At the time of trial, unless I'm given a good reason why something that happened after January 29th is relevant, that's not going to come in." (R. at 45, Mot. Tr. 8:6-8.) With regards to Motion in Limine No. 2 the Judge stated: "Unless you can tie it in, it's not going to come in." (*Id.* at 10:7-8.) As to Motion in Limine No. 4 the Judge stated: "Well, I don't see any relevance at this point, but again, if you have something specific. But right now I don't see the relevance." (*Id.* at 17:1-3.) Despite repeatedly being asked for the relevance of all evidence sought to be excluded in the Motions in Limine, Slocum was not able to provide such information.

Slocum fails to outline which Motion in Limine rulings that he takes issue with. He makes bald conclusions that evidence should have been admitted that, "would have identified and explained the actual context and circumstances of the case." (Appellant Br. 4.) He also argues that, "[b]y excluding evidence regarding the circumstances and context of the case, the local judge erred." (*Id.* at 5.)

Slocum does make reference to any specific Motion in Limine that he believes was in error through the following statement, "For example, both the City's Police Chief, and the intended recipient of the legal documents have established histories of misconduct and corruption in office that was disallowed as evidence by the local judge." (Appellant Br. 4.) First, there was no exclusion from Slocum being allowed to present evidence that Mr. Burke, "the intended recipient of the legal documents," had a history of misconduct or corruption. (See R. at 19, 45.) The remaining portion refers, by methods of deduction, to Motion in Limine No. 3. Motion in Limine No. 3 precluded Slocum from talking about the City of New Richmond Chief's allegedly "checkered career" due to relevance. As to this one example, Slocum does not argue why the ruling was contrary to the law. Slocum made no showing at the pretrial conference or at the trial of what this evidence would have shown or how this evidence would have been relevant to whether or not Slocum committed disorderly conduct on January 29, 2015. (See R. at 45, 46.)

Other than this *one example*, Slocum does not indicate which rulings he is appealing. Slocum does list two factual allegations that would arguably have been excluded as a

result of the City's Motion in Limine.⁵ While it is not believed a response is necessary as Slocum has not indicated that he appeals the exclusion of these alleged facts, they will be addressed below. These two factual allegations are as follows:

- 1. Police later "threatened [Slocum] with actual arrest, if additional attempts were made to perform the civil process service." (Appellant Br. 3)
- 2. Police later "repeatedly and consistently refused to perform the civil process service [Slocum had] subsequently paid them to perform." (Appellant Br. 3)

Both of these alleged factual allegations relate to the City's Motion in Limine No. 1 and were arguably precluded from admission due to rulings on this Motion. Slocum made no argument at the April 18th, 2016 hearing regarding why these specific facts were relevant to whether or not disorderly conduct was committed. (R. at 45, Mot. Tr. 2:23-9:5.) Slocum also never attempted to introduce any facts or prove relevancy at the time of trial. (*See* R. at 45, Mot. Tr.) Finally, as previously stated, other than citing these facts in his Brief, Slocum makes no arguments that these facts were improperly

-

⁵ These uncited factual allegations were included in Slocum's Statement of the Case, however, Slocum made no argument in his Appellate Brief that these facts were improperly excluded.

excluded as a result of the Motions in Limine.

The Court of Appeals must not consider underdeveloped arguments. *See M.C.I., Inc. v. Elbin,* 146 Wis.2d at 244-45. Judge Vlack's rulings on the motions in limine were a product of allowing arguments from both sides. After hearing the argument, Judge Vlack conducted his analysis using appropriate application of the statutes and legal standards to reach reasonable conclusions. His rulings were not erroneous and should be upheld.

b) The Introduction of Evidence by the City was not Contrary to the City's Motions in Limine and Slocum's Failure to Object at Trial Waives Any Such Argument to the Contrary.

Slocum states that, "While the Plaintiff received the local judge's approval to constrain evidence and testimony in the case (R. at 44, 48)⁶, the Plaintiff violated its own constraints, by providing evidence outside of its own limitations and constraints, in the form of exhibits involving actions that took place well after the time limits imposed by the local judge." (Appellant Br. 2.) Slocum does not identify which Motions in Limine he contends were violated. As such,

23

⁶ Because a 3rd Amended Index was filed after Slocum's Appellate Brief, the citations listed here are to the 2nd Amended Index and do not correspond to the citations listed in this brief. Corresponding entries for the 3rd amended appendix are 45, 49.

on this basis alone Slocum's argument fails as the Court is not required to search the record nor consider undeveloped arguments. With that being said, the City assumes Slocum is referring to Motion in Limine No. 1 which requests, "an order directing Mr. Slocum that all references to any events that occurred after the incident on January 29, 2015 are prohibited." (R. at 19.)⁷

Ms. Burke testified as to three pictures which the City assumes are the subject of Mr. Slocum's appeal, Exhibits 1, 3, and 4. When these exhibits were moved for admittance at trial, Slocum was asked whether he had any objections to any of the City's Exhibits, his response was, "[n]o objection at all." (R. at 46, Trial Tr. 26:17-21.) The Exhibits are pictures showing the broken wood strip from the latch on the door and footprints in the snow outside of Ms. Burke's daughter's window, all of which were not present prior to the incident in question. (*See id.* at 16:1-21, 17:6-14).

The City's introduction of these Exhibits and associated testimony was not contrary to the Motions in Limine granted. The City's Motion in Limine requested that,

⁷ This assumption comes not from argument at trial or Slocum's Appellate Brief, but instead from Slocum's arguments at the pretrial hearing. (R. at 45, Mot. Tr. 11:13-23.)

"Mr. Slocum be precluded, in limine, from any mention of the aforementioned items..." (R. at 19.) The Motion sought exclusion of testimony from Mr. Slocum and Slocum never sought a reciprocal Motion in Limine. Thus, testimony produced from the City cannot be in violation of the Motions in Limine. Second, and more importantly, Mr. Slocum clearly did not object to the Exhibits at the time testimony was given. Wis. Stat. § 901.03 provides that:

- (1) Effect of erroneous ruling. Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected; and
- (a) *Objection.* In case the ruling is one admitting evidence, a timely objection or motion to strike appears of record, stating the specific ground of objection, if the specific ground was not apparent from the context; or
- (b) Offer of proof. In case the ruling is one excluding evidence, the substance of the evidence was made known to the judge by offer or was apparent from the context within which questions were asked.

Based on Slocum's failure to object at trial and his jovial acceptance of such Exhibits, Wis. Stat. § 901.03 is dispositive. Slocum waived this argument. Furthermore, Slocum has not argued that a substantial right of the party was affected. The court must not consider underdeveloped arguments. *See M.C.I., Inc. v. Elbin,* 146 Wis.2d at 244–45. Slocum clearly was made aware of such evidence and had

been provided these pictures well before trial at the circuit court. (R. at 45, Mot. Tr. 11:13-19.)

Finally, all of Judge Vlack's rulings on the Motions in Limine were subject to modification if relevancy was able to be shown at trial. Farfaras v. Citizens Bank & Trust of Chi., 433 F.3d 558, 565 (7th Cir.2006) (citing Luce v. United States, 469 U.S. 38, 41–42, 105 S. Ct. 460, 463 (1984)). The City clearly showed the relevancy of the photographs when they were admitted.

The photographs corresponded directly with the facts cited by Ms. Burke—that the door handle was violently "jiggled" and that her dog violently barked at the window when circumstantial evidence of the footprints shows that Mr. Slocum was walking around the house to peer into the windows of the apartment. (R. at 46, Trial Tr. 12:16-25, 13:10-15, 16:22-17:2.) Ms. Burke testified that prior to the incident the wood on the door was not splintered and that the footprints were not around her apartment. (*Id.* at 16:14-16, 17:3-5, 17:15-17.) She indicated that she took these pictures

-

⁸ For instance, see the transcript from the Motion hearing where Judge Vlack indicated, "At the time of trial, unless I'm given a good reason why something that happened after January 29th is relevant, that's not going to come in." (R. at 45, Mot. Tr. 8:6-8.) Judge Vlack gave a similar ruling on numerous occasions. (*See* R. at 45.)

the morning following the incident. (*Id.* at 17:6-6-10, 46:19-3.) Despite being asked on numerous occasions if Slocum had additional evidence to offer, he never disputed that he walked around the house peering in Ms. Burke's windows. (*See id.*) He also never disputed the vigor at which Ms. Burke alleged Slocum shook her doorknob. (*Id.*)

As such, the evidence introduced was not contrary to the City's Motion in Limine and, even if so, any such argument was waived when Slocum failed to object to such evidence at trial.

4. The Trial Court's Findings of Fact Were Not Clearly Erroneous and Should be Upheld.

Slocum contends that Judge Vlack failed to take into account the hyper-sensitives of Ms. Burke in this case because Ms. Burke improperly believed that "ringing a doorbell equates with an attempt to forcefully break into her home, when simple orderly, civil process service was instead being properly and responsibly engaged in." (Appellant Br. 6.)

The record shows that Slocum's conduct was more intrusive than a simple ringing of a doorbell. Ms. Burke testified that Slocum was ringing the doorbell repetitiously

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